1987

Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc., dba Marko Enterprises, a Utah Corporation v. State Tax Commission, an agency of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the taxpayer's lease or purchase of mailing lists contained on magnetic computer tape or preprinted labels constitute a use of "tangible personal property" within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 59-16-3 (repealed; superseded by Section 59-12-103(1)(k) and (1) (1987))?

2. Was the taxpayer's payment to the owners of the mailing lists a payment primarily for services and for intangible information rather than for the lease or purchase of "tangible personal property"?

3. Is Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc., entitled to a refund of taxes paid in connection with the use of the mailing lists obtained from the magnetic tapes and printed lists?

4. Is Utah Code Ann. 59-16-3 ambiguous in its provisions regarding taxation of "tangible personal property" and should the ambiguity be resolved in favor of the taxpayer?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from the dismissal with prejudice of plaintiff's Complaint against the Utah State Tax Commission as ordered by the lower court in its Order Disposing of Reciprocal Motions for Summary Judgments and Affirming Decision of Utah State Tax Commission, entered on November 12, 1987. (R. 120-25.)

B. Disposition of the Case Below.

Plaintiff-appellant Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc., (the "taxpayer" or the "Company") commenced this action by filing a Complaint and Appeal to Tax Division on May 28, 1985, appealing from an adverse ruling of the Utah State Tax Commission (the "Tax Commission"). (R. 2-6.) Defendant State Tax Commission filed an Answer on June 28, 1985. (R. 19-22.) The parties stipulated as to all of the evidence in this case. The lower court entered an order on the stipulation on September 10, 1985. (R. 23-25.) Each of the parties filed a motion for summary judgment, which were argued at a hearing on April 14, 1987. In a Memorandum Decision dated May 12, 1987, the court denied the taxpayer's motion for summary judgment and granted

the Tax Commission's. (R. 103-10.) The court subsequently entered its Order Disposing of Reciprocal Motions for Summary Judgment and Affirming Decision of Utah State Tax Commission, on November 12, 1987, dismissing the case with prejudice. (R. 120-25.) On December 2, 1987, the taxpayer filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. 126.)

C. Statement of Facts.

The taxpayer Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc., is a company engaged in the business of marketing real estate information. It publishes books and tapes on real estate investment, and conducts real estate seminars. (Tr. 8-9.)¹ As a marketing technique, the taxpayer engages in direct mail advertising. It mails to prospective customers circulars and advertisements relating to its products, and invitations relating to its seminars. (Tr. 9.) The Company obtains names and addresses for these mailings from mailing list brokers, either through leasing or purchasing the lists. During the period at issue, July 1, 1979, through June 30, 1982, the Company paid a total of \$154,844.10 to list brokers. (Tr. 14.) The issue in this

¹The references to the transcript are to the transcript of the formal hearing before the Utah State Tax Commission on February 20, 1985, which is included in the record on appeal. By the lower Court's order of September 10, 1985, the transcript constitutes part of the stipulated facts in this case. (R. 23-25.) The facts set forth in the Statement of Facts are not in dispute.

case is whether the purchase of lists through the list brokers during the period in question constituted a use of "tangible personal property" within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 59-16-3.

The taxpayer most frequently used the services of Dependable Lists, a mailing list broker, during the period at issue, from whom the taxpayer purchased approximately 92 percent of its lists. The taxpayer used Dependable Lists because of the excellent service it provided. (Tr. 15, 26.) In purchasing or leasing a mailing list, the taxpayer would typically contact a broker, such as Dependable Lists. The taxpayer would describe the particular product that it wanted to market and would often send a sample of the product to the broker for evaluation. Once the broker had examined the product to be marketed, it would suggest a number of lists for the taxpayer's review. After consultation with the broker, the taxpayer would choose from the broker's set of suggested lists. (Tr. 29, 33-34, 41-42.)

Having selected a particular mailing list or lists, the taxpayer would then consult with the broker to refine the lists chosen. In the process of refining lists, the taxpayer relied heavily on the expertise of the broker. It was not unusual for the broker and the taxpayer to spend a great deal of time identifying the demographic characteristics of people

most likely interested in the product to be marketed. Lists were refined by choosing the characteristics, or "selects," of the group of persons on the list to which the taxpayer desired to offer its products. (Tr. 29-31, 33-34, 40-43.) The categories, or "selects," requested by the company included sex, geographic locale, income bracket, home ownership, number of children, ages of children, subscribership to certain periodicals, the kinds of books purchased through the mail, and the types of prior investments. The taxpayer, in consultation with the list broker, would choose the appropriate selects, and the broker would refine the list on these criteria. Every list that the taxpayer used was refined in this fashion. (Tr. 30, 51.)

Having determined which selects to use, the broker then uses a computer program to refine the list. The difficulty of the programming varies, depending on how complicated the selects are. (Tr. 94-95.) The primary expertise of the broker is more in determining which selects to use rather than in the refining of the list through the computer program. (Tr. 95.) Where the taxpayer purchased the use of more than one list for the same marketing campaign, the lists would be run through a computer to delete name duplicates, a process called "merge-purge." (Tr. 44-46.)

The services of a list broker are critical to the taxpayer's direct mail campaigns. Payments to brokers are far more for services than for access to "raw," or unrefined, lists of names. "Raw" lists are not profitable in direct mailing. During the period at issue the taxpayer bought no "raw" lists. Each list purchased was substantially refined through the use of selects. The success or failure of a direct mail marketing campaign depends on the services of the broker in selecting proper lists and in refining the lists with proper selects. The cost of lists varies to reflect the amount of services rendered by the list broker, and the value of the information on the list. (Tr. 32, 41, 52-57, 62, 94-95.)

Having refined the chosen list through the use of selects, the taxpayer would then place an order for the use of the list through the list broker. The taxpayer would send a sample of the "mailing piece" to the list broker who would, in turn, submit it to the list owner for approval. (Tr. 43). Once the mailing piece is approved, the list is processed and delivered to the taxpayer, which would then be allowed a limited, one-time license to use the mailing list. List owners seed the mailing list with coded "control" names in order to detect unauthorized use of the mailing list. (Tr. 12-13, 43, 47.)

The information rented by the taxpayer from the list owner is transferred to the taxpayer on computer tape or on preprinted labels. During the period in issue, the taxpayer received 63.4 percent of its lists on labels, and 36.6 percent on computer tapes. Once the limited, one-time use of the tape has been made, the tape must be returned, erased, or destroyed. In situations when the tape may be kept, a separate fee is charged for the tape. (Tr. 11-14, 44, 46-47.)

Following the formal hearing before the Tax Commission, the Commission found that the mailing lists were tangible personal property and upheld the challenged use tax assessment. The taxpayer paid the contested amount of \$7,750.00, and commenced this action seeking a judgment that the assessment was erroneous and ordering a refund of that amount to the taxpayer. The tax division of the Third District Court for Salt Lake County also held that the lists were tangible personal property. It is from that determination that the taxpayer appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Because the lower court decided the case on stipulated facts, this Court should consider the matter on a de novo basis.

2. The taxpayer purchased or leased mailing list information through out-of-state list brokers. The information

was transferred through the medium of either magnetic tape or printed lists. The magnetic tapes and printed lists used by the taxpayer were incidental to the sale of services performed by the list brokers in preparing and refining the lists for the purposes of the taxpayer's marketing program.

3. The magnetic tapes and printed lists used by the taxpayer were incidental to the purchase of intangible information. Every court that has considered the issue has held that mailing lists contained on magnetic tape are not taxable as tangible personal property. Computer software is analogous, which is also generally not held to be tangible personal property subject to a sales or use tax.

4. Any ambiguities in the taxing statute, Section 59-16-3, must be strictly construed and resolved in favor of the taxpayer. If the legislature intends that the state should tax the transfer of information by magnetic tape, or other similar means, it should specifically so provide by statute. The statute in question should not be given a forced interpretation to accommodate computer-age transfers of information which could be transferred by other means than magnetic tape or printed lists.

ARGUMENT

I.

BECAUSE THE FACTS WERE STIPULATED TO BY THE PARTIES
THIS COURT SHOULD CONSIDER THE MATTER DE NOVO.

The parties stipulated that the evidence adduced and stipulated to at the formal hearing before the State Tax Commission on February 20, 1985, including the transcript of hearing and all exhibits introduced at the hearing, constituted a full and complete record of all facts relevant to the subject matter of the action. On September 10, 1985, the lower court entered an order on the stipulation. (R. 23-25). Because the facts are not in dispute, but have been stipulated to, this Court should review the issues raised in this appeal de novo. The Court previously held in Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc. v. Great Northern Baseball Company, 748 P.2d 1058 (Utah 1987) that when a trial court relies on stipulated facts to decide a case, "this court does not apply the clearly erroneous standard, but will sustain the lower court's decision only if convinced of its correctness. . . . Thus, we examine the facts de novo." Id. at 1060.

II.

THE MAGNETIC TAPES AND PRINTED LISTS
USED BY THE TAXPAYER WERE INCIDENTAL TO
A SALE OF INTANGIBLE SERVICES.

Utah Code Ann. § 59-16-3(a)(Supp. 1986) imposes a tax on "storage, use, or other consumption in this state of

tangible personal property." For a transaction to be taxable under Section 59-16-3, two separate and independent elements must be present: (1) There must be a use of property, and (2) the property used must be tangible. Except for specific services as outlined in Utah Code Ann. § 59-16-3(b), there is no tax on the use of services. By its terms, the statute subjects only tangible personal property to taxation. The use of intangible property is not taxable.

Not all transactions involving a use of property come within the terms of the statute. Property is often transferred incidentally in a sale of services. Tangible property is often transferred incidentally to a sale of services. The transfer of tangible property is often incidental to a sale of intangible property. Courts have recognized that transactions often mix taxable and non-taxable elements. Thus, in determining the taxability of such transactions under sales and use taxes, courts generally attempt to determine the "true or real object of the sale." For example, the "true object" test was applied in the case of Bullock v. Statistical Tabulating Corporation, 549 S.W.2d 166 (Tex. 1977). There the issue was whether the transfer of compiled statistical data on computer cards constituted the sale of tangible personal property. Holding in the negative, the court stated that "the true object

of this transaction is not the data processing card as contended by the Comptroller, but the purchase of coded or processed data, an intangible." Id. at 168 (emphasis in original). See Spencer Gifts, Inc. v. Director, Division of Taxation, 182 N.J. Super. 179, 440 A.2d 104, 117-18 (1981); Fingerhut Products Co. v. Commissioner of Revenue, 258 N.W.2d 606 (Minn. 1977).

This Court used a version of the "real object test" to determine the taxability of such "mixed" transactions in Thorne and Wilson, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 681 P.2d 1237 (Utah 1984). There, the Court upheld a district court's ruling that a sale of rare United States and foreign coins was a sale of tangible property. The Court noted that "[i]t is the substance of the transaction and not the property actually transferred that controls. . . . In order to determine whether the metal tokens were sold as tangible personal property, the essence of the transaction must be examined." Id. at 1238 (emphasis added) (quoting Michigan National Bank v. Department of Treasury, 127 Mich. App. 646, 339 N.W.2d 515, 517 (1983)). Thus, in determining the taxability of the case at issue, the "true object" or "essence of the transaction" of the sale must be determined.

As noted above, there is no tax on services under Utah Code Ann. § 59-16-3(a). In this case, the Company paid for the

services of the mailing list broker. The evidence presented at the hearing before the Tax Commission demonstrated that the real object of the transaction was the purchase of the services of the list broker. Thomas Tolman testified that "the actual money paid, from our point of view, to the broker, is far more for the broker's services and what he is able to give us than it is for the actual tape and paper." (Tr. 54). All the lists rented by the company were selected and refined with the assistance of the list broker and its computer programmer, and were tailored to the company's needs. (Tr. 32, 41, 52-57, 62, 94-95). The taxpayer relied on the list broker in selecting lists, and in pinpointing possible customers from each list. (Tr. 29, 43). A "raw" list has little, if any, value to the company. (Tr. 32, 94).

Essentially, the list brokers used by the Company engaged in the service of gathering and collating demographic and marketing research and providing it to the Company to assist the Company's sales efforts. The lists purchased by the Company were not "canned" or "raw," but were specifically tailored to fit the individual needs of the Company. Courts in situations similar to the present case have found that tangible property transferred or used in a manner incidental to the sale of services did not involve a taxable use of tangible personal

property. For instance, in Williams & Lee Scouting Service, Inc. v. Calvert, 452 S.W.2d 789 (Tex. Civ. App. 1970), the taxpayer provided the service of gathering information pertaining to oil and gas fields and then selling reports containing the information. The court held that the company provided a service and that the sale of the written reports was not a transfer of tangible personal property. The court noted that the reporting of the information purchased by the taxpayer "can take any form from handwritten notes, telephone, or telegraph communications to printed material. The method of its communication is unimportant. The value lies in the intangible facts secured by the service." Id. at 792.

In Maccabees Mutual Life Insurance Company v. State, Department of Treasury, 122 Mich. App. 666, 332 N.W.2d 561 (1983), the court considered whether a sale of computer software was a taxable transfer of tangible personal property under a statute virtually identical to Utah's. Observing that the software programs "represent a personalized service, customized to fit plaintiffs' particular computer configuration," the court held that the sale of the software was not taxable. Id. at 563-64. The Maccabees court cited University Microfilms v. Scio Township, 76 Mich. App. 616, 257 N.W.2d 265 (1977), which considered whether master negative microfilm copies of printed materials, rare books, periodicals,

and other sources were personal property. The University Microfilms court distinguished the plaintiff's microfilms from computer software:

We agree with plaintiff that its master negatives are similar to abstracts and computer 'software' in that all contain information, but we disagree that that is what controls the determination of intangibility. The value of an abstract is personal, that is, it is dependent on the work of the one who controls the information. If it is left to go out of date or is inaccurate rate, it loses its value. . . . Similarly, the value of computer "software" is not in the card or disc itself, but rather in the synthesization, compilation, organization and creation of the computer programs contained therein. . . . The value is personal. Payment is made for the service and the expert knowledge.

275 N.W.2d at 267 (emphasis added; citations omitted). See Detroit Automobile Interinsurance Exchange v. Department of Treasury, 361 N.W.2d 373, 374-75 (Mich. App. 1985) (court held that sale of computer software was not taxable since the tapes and disks were not tangible personal property, but represented a service distinguished from TV games, albums, and cassette tapes); Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. v. City of New York, 276 N.Y. 198, 11 N.E.2d 728, 731 (1938) (court held that credit report prepared by taxpayer involved a service and was not a use of tangible personal property).

The list brokers in the present case gather and categorize demographic marketing information which is of great value to the Company in its sales efforts. The brokers

unquestionably provide a service for which the taxpayer should not be taxed. The one-time use of the lists by the taxpayer was not a taxable event. The tangibility of the physical magnetic tape was purely incidental to the real object of the transaction: the use of information resulting from the expert services of the list brokers with whom the taxpayer dealt.

III.

THE TAXPAYER PURCHASED INTANGIBLE INFORMATION, NOT TANGIBLE PROPERTY.

- A. The weight of authority recognizes that mailing lists are not tangible personal property and use thereof is not a taxable transaction.

The magnetic tapes and labels used by the taxpayer were not purchased for their tangible worth as tapes and labels, but rather for their value as a method of transmitting information. Every case that has considered the question raised by the present case had held that the use of mailing lists contained on magnetic tape is not taxable as tangible personal property. In Spencer Gifts, Inc. v. Director, Division of Taxation, 182 N.J. Super. 179, 440 A.2d 104 (1981), the court held that mailing lists transferred by magnetic tape were not tangible personal property. The court stated:

Plaintiff is not subject to sales or use tax when it leases mailing lists. The leasing of computer information is not the leasing or sale of tangible personal property and is not taxable under our act.

Plaintiff is leasing information. It is not leasing tangible personal property. The tapes which are tangible personal property and which transmit the information are only incidental to the underlying transaction between the parties. . . .

The tapes are an inconsequential part of the transaction whose real object is the obtaining of mailing list information. . . . Under such circumstances the form of delivery of the information should not control its taxability. The inconsequential aspect of the magnetic tapes in the subject transactions may be compared to the inconsequential aspect of the paper used in connection with an accountant's services by way of reports or with an attorney's services by way of wills, other legal documents or letters giving advice.

Id. at 117-18 (citations omitted).

In Fingerhut Products Co. v. Commissioner of Revenue, 258 N.W.2d 606 (Minn. 1977), the court reached an identical result in a case involving printed mailing lists. Observing that software on computer cards and tapes is analogous to the typed mailing lists at issue, the court held:

Like the transfer of computer programs through the use of punch cards, the use of the tangible medium of typed mailing lists is merely incidental to the use of the incorporeal information contained in those lists. The typed lists themselves were not used within the contemplation of the statute; what was used was the information contained in the lists. Such use, in our opinion, is not taxable under the current statute.

Id. at 610.

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