1987

# Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc. dba Marko Enterprises, a Utah Corporation v. State Tax Commission, an agency of the State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

1. The Supreme Court should review the district court's judgment in this tax commission review proceeding on the same basis as other judgments.

2. The acquisitions of the mailing lists were purchases of tangible personal property, not the uses of services.

3. The use of the mailing lists are uses of tangible personal property taxable under Utah use tax statutes.

4. The legislature couched U.C.A. 59-16-3 in broad, general terms in order to afford the tax commission great latitude in administering the statute.

## **ARGUMENT**

### POINT I

THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE JUDGMENT  
OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS TAX COMMISSION  
REVIEW PROCEEDING ON THE SAME BASIS AS OTHER  
JUDGMENTS

In Parson Asphalt Products, Inc. v. State Tax Commission, 617 P.2d 397 (Utah 1980) this court stated:

The review by this Court of the judgment of the district court in these tax commission review proceedings is on the same basis as other judgments: they are entitled to the presumptions of verity; the burden is upon appellant to show there was error; and this Court will not reverse unless the findings are without substantial support in the evidence, or there was error in law...

Appellant argues that since the parties stipulated that the formal hearing transcript and exhibits constituted a full record, this Court should consider the matter de novo. Appellant relies on Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc. v. Great Northern Baseball Co., 748 P.2d 1058 (Utah 1987) Sacramento Baseball holds, in pertinent part, that when a trial court relies on stipulated facts to decide the case, "this court does not apply the clearly erroneous standard, but will sustain the lower court's decision only if convinced of its correctness...Thus we examine the facts de novo." Id at 1060.

The ruling in Sacramento Baseball does not apply to the case at bar because the tax division of the district court was not functioning in the role of a trial court. Instead, it conducted a de novo review on the record of a tax commission decision pursuant to U.C.A. 59-1-603. U.C.A. 59-1-603 (repealed effective December 31, 1987) required the district court to conduct de novo review of "appeals from and petitions for review of decisions of the commission..." The type of review contemplated by the statute was a "trial upon the record made before the lower tribunal without the submission of new testimony. The purpose of the de novo requirement was to signify that the scope of the court's review of the record would include a fresh consideration of questions of fact as well as questions of law." Pledger v. Cox, 626 P.2d 45 (Utah 1981).

The district court conducted a complete trial de novo on the record, issuing findings of fact and conclusions of law. The stipulation of the parties merely certified the tax commission's record upon which the district court's review was based.

The Sacramento Baseball rule is further inapplicable because its rationale does not pertain. The rule is based on the premise that when a district court relies on stipulated facts, it lacks the opportunity to observe the witnesses and hear their testimony. See Prince v. W. Empire Life Ins. Co., 19 Utah 2d 174, 428 P.2d 163 (1967). In the case at bar, the trier of fact was the tax commission. The commissioners who heard the case had ample opportunity to see and hear the witnesses as well as to cross examine them.

## POINT II

### THE ACQUISITIONS OF THE MAILING LISTS WERE NOT THE USES OF SERVICES

To be taxable under §59-16-3 of the Utah Code Ann., the item used must be tangible personal property. Except for specific services outlined in §59-16-3(b), there is no tax on the use of services. The fact that the

mailing lists were leased for a one time use, rather than purchased, does not affect the question of whether there were uses of services or property. When a lessee has the right to possession, operation, or use of tangible personal property, then the use tax applies to the amount paid pursuant to the lease agreement, regardless of the duration of the agreement. Utah State Tax Commission Rule A12-02-S32(b). As the court said in Comptroller of the Treasury 296 Md. 459, 464 A.2d 248 (1983): "It is said each tape is used only once. But a dress pattern purchased at retail and used to make only one dress (or even if never used) is taxable." Id. at 261.

Both the computer tapes and the typed lists can be treated the same in the determination of whether the appellant was paying for services or for property when it rented the mailing lists. The use of both the computer tapes and the typed lists is either the use of property or the use of services. The issue here is one of property versus services rather than tangible property versus intangible property.

In determining whether a transaction is for property or for service, courts usually focus on the essence of the transaction or, in other words, the real and true object of the transaction. Spencer Gifts, Inc. v. Director, Division of Taxation, 182 N.J. Super. 179, 440 A.2d 104 (1981). The Supreme Court of Ohio, recognizing that most transactions involve a mixed degree of personal service and of transfer of tangible personal property, articulated the test as whether the real object sought by the buyer is the service per se or the property produced by the service. Accountants Computer Services, Inc. v. Kosydar, 35 Ohio St. 2d 120, 298 N.E.2d 519 (1973).

Once the dominant or primary purpose is decided, then the transaction is characterized as a single overall function, either the rental or purchase of equipment or the provision of services. Comptroller of the

Treasury v. Equitable Trust Co., 296 Md. 459, 464 A.2d 248 (1983). Factors to be considered in determining the dominant purpose are as follows: (1.) whether the service involved was consequential or inconsequential to the conveyance of the tangible personal property; (2.) whether there was a separate charge for the service in addition to the charge for the products; (3.) whether the purchaser or renter acquired a tangible personal property interest; and (4.) whether the value of the product was temporary or transitory.

The appellant contends that the objects of its transactions with the mailing list companies were the services provided and that the rentals of the actual mailing lists were incidental and inconsequential to those services. The appellant claims that the service aspect far outweighs the value of the final products. However, such an argument is analogous to ordering a particular cake, relying on the baker's help and expertise in deciding what kind and how much, and then claiming that the baker's services were the object of the purchase, with the cake existing only as an incidental element.

Just as one makes a one time "use" of a cake by eating it, the appellant made a one time use of the mailing lists by using them. The services would have been meaningless without the mailing lists as the final products. What the appellant wanted and used were the names and addresses as they were delivered in tangible personal property form. The fact that the tapes and the paper cost little by themselves does not convert activities from the acquisitions of property into the acquisitions of services.

Recent court decisions deal with this issue in a realistic and practical manner. Old West Realty, Inc. v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 110 Id. 546, 716 P.2d 1318 (1986), involved a multiple listing service which

distributed monthly multiple listing booklets to salesmen who subscribed to the service. The Idaho Supreme Court found that the taxpayer failed to establish his entitlement to an exemption from the general sales taxing authority, although the transactions were admittedly mixed ones of services and property. The court rejected the plaintiff's argument that the objects of the sales were the services rendered. Instead, the court held that the transactions were taxable ones involving the transfers of the booklets which were defined as tangible personal property.

Even where services are the dominant element in a transaction, courts have found that the real object test may point to the final product as the essence of the transaction. In Hasbro Industries, Inc. v. Norberg, 487 A.2d 124 (R.I. 1985), a toy manufacturing company hired an art company to design and construct packaging for a new toy. The court found that, although there were considerable expertise and effort invested in producing the package and that the effort exceeded the component value of the resulting tangible personal property, the transfer of the personal property was not incidental to the service rendered. The Rhode Island Court, quoting Community Telecasting Service v. Johnson, 220 A.2d 500, 503 (Me. 1966), stated: "'The fact that property the subject of a sale is custom made and that labor is the principal cost factor does not establish the contract as one for rendition of services rather than sale.'" The court held that the real object of the transaction was the end product of the mechanical artwork from which to fabricate the toy package.

In this case, the appellant sought to gain access to the mailing lists. The focus and goal of the transactions were the uses of the names and addresses. While it appears to be true that the brokers offered advice and expertise based on past experience, the services provided were incidental to

the end products. (This is particularly true where the appellant in the instant case applied further services to the tapes after acquiring them; the merge-purge activities took place.) See Citizens Financial Corp. v. Kosydar, 43 Ohio St. 2d, 331 N.E.2d 435 (1975), where the court held that the object of the transaction was a hard-copy printout of the information.

There was no separate charge for the services in the instant case. Appellant did not pay for the services; it paid to obtain and to use the mailing lists.

When the appellant rented the lists from the list brokerage companies, it acquired a tangible property interest because Mark O. Haroldsen, Inc. could then use the lists and apply the information for its own purposes. See Cowdrey, Software and Sales Tax: The Illusory Intangible, 63 B.U.L. Rev. 181 (1983) (purchaser acquires a tangible personal property interest where primary purpose is to use a computer program from the user's own application).

It is irrelevant to the acquisition of a property interest that the rental entitled the appellant to only a one-time use of the names and addresses. The use tax is imposed regardless of how many times the property is used. The fact of one use does not change transactions for property into transactions for services. Towne-Oller and Associates v. State Tax Commission, 120 A.D.2d 873, 502 N.Y.S.2d 544 (1986). In Towne, the plaintiff rented computer time from Universal, a computer renting company, which, for a designated fee, allowed plaintiff's employees to go over to the company and to use their computers. The court held that plaintiff's use of computer time was taxable because it was a transfer of possession, even though Universal had the power to cease plaintiff's use at any time.

Courts sometimes distinguish between canned and custom software programs on the basis that custom-made programs essentially involve services

and may therefore be nontaxable. See First National Bank of Fort Worth v. Bullock, 584 S.W.2d 548 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979); Chittenden Trust Co. v. King, 143 Vt. 271, 465 A.2d 1100 (1983). However, this line of analysis appears arbitrary and weak when viewed in the light of recent court decisions which have taken a more practical view. See the earlier discussion and particularly Hasbro Industries, Inc. v. Norberg, 487 A.2d 124 (R.I. 1985). Whether the taxpayer purchases a program "off the shelf" or commissions a program to be custom-made, the real object of the transaction is the acquisition of the program.

Even if custom-made programs are considered nontaxable, the exemption for customization is inapplicable to the case at bar. The appellant did not purchase customized lists from the list brokerage companies. The brokers did not create the lists of names; they merely narrowed the lists down to specific areas chosen by the appellant such as geographic area, zip code area, or income level. Although the lists may have been altered or adapted to the appellant's specifications, they are not "customized" mailing lists. Comptroller v. Equitable Trust Co., 296 Md. 459, 464 A.2d 248, 250-54 (1983). Customers frequently order products with certain specifications, such as a flavor of cake, a type of flower, or a color of clothing. However, these preferences do not render the products "custom-made." The brokers merely rearranged the forms of the raw lists of names. See Accountants Computer Services, Inc. v. Kosydar, 35 Ohio St. 2d 120, 298 N.E. 2d 519 (1973).

### POINT III

#### THE USES OF THE MAILING LISTS ARE USES OF TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXABLE UNDER UTAH USE TAX STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. §59-16-3 (1983 Supp.) imposes an excise or use tax on "[t]he storage, use, or other consumption in this state of tangible



personal property." To be taxable under this section, there must be use of tangible personal property. By implication, there is no tax on intangible property. With the exception of specified services as outlined in Utah Code Ann. §59-16-3(b), there is no tax on the use of services. Therefore, if the property in a transaction is tangible personal property, then a tax is imposed. This is true unless the transaction was actually for a nontaxable service, and any transfer of tangible property was incidental to that service. The two elements are separate and independent requirements for taxation.

The fact that the mailing lists were rented or leased, rather than purchased, does not affect the question of whether there was a use of services or of tangible personal property. Under Utah Code Ann. §59-16-3(c) (1983 Supp.), tangible personal property leased or rented is specifically subject to use tax.

The Utah definition of tangible personal property is premised upon the traditional concept of tangible property, i.e., anything that can be possessed is an object of tangible property. Utah State Tax Commission Rule A12-02-S26 provides as follows:

Tangible personal property embraces all goods, wares, merchandise, produce, and commodities, all tangible or corporeal things and substances which are dealt in or capable of being possessed or exchanged. It does not include real estate or any interest therein or improvements thereon nor does it include bank accounts, stocks, bonds, mortgages, notes and other evidence of debt, insurance certificates or policies, personal or governmental licenses. The term does not include water in pipes, conduits, ditches or reservoirs but does include water in bottles, tanks or other containers. Tangible personal property includes all other physically existing articles or things including property severed from real estate. A sales or use tax is imposed on the sale of tangible personal property.

In applying the limited traditional concept of tangible property, one must conclude that the mailing lists are tangible. They arrived at the

appellant's company in the form of magnetic computer tapes or typed sheets of paper, both of which are corporeal substances capable of being perceived by the senses and of being possessed and exchanged.

Today, courts realize that the "Doctrine of Tangibility" as traditionally stated is a somewhat irrelevant concept developed in an earlier time for different purposes. Spencer Gifts, Inc. v. Director, Division of Taxation, 182 N.J. Super. 179, \_\_\_, 440 A.2d 104, 120-21 (1981). Consequently, courts and legislatures have endeavored to expand the doctrine in order to maintain its viability and its applicability. See Martin v. Reynolds Metals Co., 221 Or. 86, 342 P.2d 790 (1959) (where invasions of the owner plaintiff's land by invisible particles of toxic gas was held to be a physical trespass). The Utah definition does not specifically state that tangible property is only those objects that can be "perceived by the senses" and is, therefore, arguably broader and more modern than more limited definitions of other jurisdictions.

The Utah Supreme Court, recognizing the need to apply the legal concept of tangibility in a practical manner, held that the sale of foreign and rare coins was subject to state sales tax. Thorne and Wilson, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 681 P.2d 1237 (Utah 1984). The Utah court, quoting with approval the decision in Scotchman's Coin Shop, Inc. v. Administrative Hearing Commission, 654 S.W.2d 873 (Mo. 1983) (en banc), stated "'it is important to look beyond legal fictions and academic jurisprudence in order to discover the economic realities of the case . . . .'" Thorne, 681 P.2d at 1238.

In Thorne, the court looked to the "essence of the transaction" and found that the coins were tangible personal property because they were "sold for their intrinsic value and their face value [was] not significant."

Id. at 1239. In the case at bar, the magnetic tapes were sold for their intrinsic value, the information contained in them; and the value of the tapes themselves was insignificant.

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